#### No. S192828

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

### CITY OF LOS ANGELES,

Petitioner,

v.

### SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,

Respondent.

### ENGINEERS AND ARCHITECTS ASSOCIATION,

Petitioner and Real Party in Interest

SUPPLIME COURT

SEP 26 2011

Court of Appeal of the State of California Second Appellate District, Division 3 Case No. B228732 Frederick K. Umrich Userk

Appeal from Superior Court of Los Angeles Honorable Gregory Alarcon Civil Case No. BS126192

### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

Gary M. Messing, No. 075363 Gregg McLean Adam, No. 203436 Jonathan Yank, No. 215495 Gonzalo C. Martinez, No. 231724

### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

This case raises a question central to the right of all California public employees and their unions to enforce arbitration clauses in their collective bargaining agreements in disputes over the interpretation and application of their contract-bound terms and conditions of employment. Specifically:

Whether a charter city may arbitrate disputes over collectively-bargained wage and hour provisions without unlawfully delegating its discretionary budgeting and salary-setting authority to the arbitrator?

I

#### Introduction

For over seventy years, this Court has recognized that grievance arbitration clauses in collective bargaining agreements are binding and enforceable. In the public employment context, this Court has further recognized that such agreements, commonly known as "memoranda of understanding" or "MOUs," protect public employees from abrogation of their contractual rights.

Disputes arising from the interpretation or application of MOUs have traditionally been resolved through arbitration, in accordance with parties' agreements and strong California public policy favoring arbitration of labor disputes. The court of appeal's decision in this case upends that settled law and established practice, and, along with it, eradicates that prompt and equitable means of resolving labor disputes.

This case arises from a series of grievances filed by members of the Engineers and Architects Association ("EAA") seeking an arbitrator's determination whether the City of Los Angeles' ("the City") reduction of their contractual wages and hours through imposition of furloughs violated the wage and hour provisions of the parties' MOUs. The Second District Court of Appeal held it was unlawful for the City to agree to arbitrate that issue. In spite of the broad arbitration clause in the MOUs, as well as the fact that the Los Angeles Administrative Code mandates arbitration of

contractual labor disputes, the court reasoned that "any agreement to arbitrate the issue of furloughs would constitute an improper delegation of discretionary policymaking power vested in the City Council." (Slip Op. at pp. 3, 26.) That holding contravenes long-established California law and policy on the enforceability of MOUs and grievance arbitration, and would presumably require public employees to instead file lawsuits in the superior courts to enforce labor agreements.

The court of appeal's decision appears to have been driven by a concern that the MOUs' grievance procedure was not the appropriate mechanism to challenge a *city-wide* policy decision made under city charter powers to ostensibly address a declared fiscal emergency. But, as detailed below, EAA members' grievances sought merely to enforce the wage-and-hour terms of *their* MOUs, not to challenge the City's discretionary power to make policy.

The court was also apparently troubled that the arbitrator's remedy might undo city-wide policy by restoring EAA members' wages and hours to what they were under the MOUs. But the application of the City's furlough policy to other city employees would be unaffected by arbitration of the grievances. And with respect to EAA members, that concern goes to the merits of the parties' underlying dispute and the scope of the MOUs' arbitration clause—both of which are reserved to the

arbitrator. (Advanced Micro Devices, Inc. v. Intel Corp. (1994) 9 Cal.4th 362, 372-373.)

More fundamentally, the court of appeal ignored this Court's precedents establishing that wage and hour provisions in MOUs are binding and enforceable, as are arbitration clauses therein, and that cities cannot use their charter powers to abrogate the contractual rights of their employees. (Glendale City Employees' Assn., Inc. v. City of Glendale ("Glendale") (1975) 15 Cal.3d 328; Taylor v. Crane (1979) 24 Cal.3d 442.) Grievance arbitration gives effect to collective bargaining agreements, and public employees are entitled to enforce their MOUs through that bargained-for and in this case mandatory—process. This means that, for grievance arbitration and collective bargaining agreements to have any meaning, an arbitrator must have the power to enforce contractual wage and hour agreements negotiated with and ultimately ratified by city governments. An arbitrator's enforcement of those agreements does not "unlawfully delegate" municipal authority, but instead restores the wages and hours the City negotiated and then bound itself to by ratifying the MOUs.

The court of appeal shoehorned its concerns into an ill-considered unlawful delegation theory that has no application here. First, cities are authorized to arbitrate labor disputes, and the City's Administrative Code requires it. Second, the City already exercised the discretion the court wrongly found was being delegated: it ratified the

MOUs (which set employees' wages and hours) and it enacted the furloughs ordinance (which reduced them). The question presented by the grievances is whether the second act conflicts with the first and, if so, what the proper remedy would be.

The court of appeal found an unlawful delegation because it conflated "grievance arbitration" with "interest arbitration." But these two dispute resolution methods are distinct: in *grievance arbitration*, the arbitrator performs the <u>quasi-judicial</u> function of interpreting and enforcing the terms of the parties' existing contract; in *interest arbitration*, the arbitrator performs a <u>legislative</u> function by deciding what contractual terms will govern the parties' future relations and conduct, traditionally after bargaining impasse. (*County of Sonoma v. Superior Court* (2009) 173 Cal.App.4th 322, 341-342.) Arbitration of EAA members' grievances triggers only the quasi-judicial function of determining whether the City's furloughs ordinance violated the MOUs. Any remedy would not bind the parties to *new terms*; rather, it would merely enforce the old ones the City already agreed to and ratified.

The City justified its refusal to honor the arbitration clause by pointing to its assertedly-reserved powers and declaration of fiscal emergency. But that ignores an express charter limitation prohibiting

unilateral reduction of salaries set by MOU. (See LA City Charter, art. II, section 219.¹) More importantly, those considerations are only relevant to the merits of the parties' underlying dispute. They are no defense to arbitration itself, and are irrelevant to whether arbitration would result in an unlawful delegation. There is no blanket "fiscal emergency" exception to the enforceability of collective bargaining agreements, and such an exception would be unconstitutional under state and federal law. (See *Sonoma County Organization of Public Employees v. County of Sonoma* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 296.) Even in a declared fiscal emergency, a government employer "is not completely free to consider impairing the obligations of its own contracts on par with other policy alternatives." (See *id.* at p. 308.)

This Court should reverse the court of appeal's decision and remand to allow arbitration of the grievances to proceed. No arbitrator has yet adjudicated the merits of the parties' dispute, let alone directed any remedy. By contrast, affirming the court of appeal's decision would encourage public employers to legislate their way out of MOUs and shield themselves from arbitral review, in contravention of the strong public policy of averting labor strife and favoring resolution of labor disputes through arbitration. It would also create a sweeping exception to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Relevant selections from the LA City Charter are attached as Exhibit 1 to EAA's Motion to Take Judicial Notice ("MJN"), filed herewith.

enforceability of MOUs, because a government employer in fiscal straits could subsequently rewrite the parties' agreement and then charge that any remedy enforcing its original terms unlawfully exercised governmental powers. As Justice Tobriner asked in *Glendale*: "Why submit the agreement to the governing body for determination, if its approval were without significance? What integrity would be left in government if government itself could attack the integrity of its own agreement?" (15 Cal.3d at p. 336.)

II

#### **FACTS**

Petitioner Engineers & Architects Association is the recognized representative for approximately 5000 employees working for the City of Los Angeles in numerous bargaining units. (AA 1:2.) At all relevant times, the wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment of these employees were governed by four MOUs negotiated between EAA and the City. (See Slip Op. at p. 3; AA 1:86 – 2:338.) In accordance with the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act (Government Code section 3500, *et seq.*) ("MMBA") and Los Angeles Administrative Code section 4.870, subd. (c)(1), the City Council exercised its discretion and ratified all four MOUs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Los Angeles Administrative Code contains the Employee Relations Ordinance, §§ 4.800-4.890 ("ERO"). (See MJN, Ex. 2.) Section 4.870, subd. (c) provides: "Memorandums [sic] of understanding on matters

(See AA 1:86 – 2:338.) Each of the MOUs contains substantive provisions setting forth a standard 40-hour workweek (Article 5.1) and salary schedules based on the 40-hour work week (Article 6.1). (See, e.g., AA 1:112-114.)<sup>3</sup>

A. In Accordance With the Los Angeles Administrative Code, the Parties' Agreements Mandate Arbitration of "Any Dispute Concerning the Interpretation or Application" of an MOU

The MOUs ratified by the City Council contain grievance and arbitration procedures designed to resolve disputes arising from the interpretation or application of the MOUs. The arbitration clause, set forth in Section I of Article 3.1 of the MOUs, provides:

A grievance is defined as *any dispute* concerning *the interpretation or application of this written MOU* or departmental rules and regulations governing personnel practices or working conditions applicable to employees covered by this MOU.

(See, e.g., AA 1:103 [emphases added]; Slip Op. at p. 6.) The MOUs expressly preclude interest arbitration in the grievance process (see *id*. ["An impasse in meeting and conferring upon the terms of a proposed MOU is

concerning which the City Council is the determining body shall become effective when approved by the City Council."

The contractual provisions at issue are the same in all four MOUs. (Slip Op. at p. 1, fn. 1.) Article 5.1 provides, in relevant part, "Employees shall be compensated for 40 hours per week at the regular hourly rate for their class and pay grade." (See, e.g., AA 1:113.) Article 6.1 incorporates salary ranges contained in the appendices. (See, e.g., AA 1:114.)

not a grievance"]), and prohibit an arbitrator from augmenting or otherwise modifying the MOUs in any manner. (See, e.g., AA 1:107 ["The decision of an arbitrator resulting from any arbitration of grievances hereunder shall not add to, subtract from, or otherwise modify the terms and conditions of this MOU"], italics added.)

This broad arbitration clause is modeled after the Los Angeles
Employee Relations Ordinance ("ERO"), as set forth in the Los Angeles
Administrative Code. (See ERO Sections 4.801 and 4.865, subd. (a).) In
fact, the City's ERO section 4.865 mandates that any MOU with the City
must include a grievance procedure that culminates in arbitration. (See *id*.

["Such grievance procedure shall apply to all grievances . . . [and] shall
provide for arbitration of all grievances not resolved in the grievance
procedure . . . ."].) Like the MOUs, ERO section 4.801 defines a

"grievance" as "[a]ny dispute concerning the interpretation or application of
a written memorandum of understanding or of departmental rules and
regulations governing personnel practices or working conditions."

### B. The City Reduced the Contractual Wages and Work Hours of EAA Members by Enacting a Furloughs Ordinance

On May 18, 2009, the City Council declared a fiscal emergency and adopted an emergency resolution and ordinance proposed by the Mayor, which included mandatory furloughs for virtually all civilian City employees. (Slip Op. at pp. 3-4; 8:1795.) Specifically, the resolution and

ordinance permitted the Mayor to adopt a mandatory furlough of City employees for up to 26 days per year. (*Id.*) Most City departments were to be closed on the second and fourth Friday of each month, with two additional furlough days to be determined later. (See City's Petition for Writ of Mandate, filed with the court of appeal ("PWM") ¶ 14; AA 8:1771.)

After the City imposed the furloughs, the City met and conferred with EAA twice, but only regarding the impact of the City's furloughs plan, not the decision to furlough employees.<sup>4</sup> (Slip Op. at p. 5.)

The City began furloughing EAA's members in July 2009. (AA 1:3; PWM ¶ 27.)

C. EAA Members Filed Individual Grievances Asserting that Furloughs Violated the Wage and Hour Provisions of Their MOUs, All of Which the City Denied and Refused to Arbitrate

The City's furlough of EAA members arguably contravened the express wage and hour provisions of the parties' MOUs. The MOUs provide for 40-hour workweeks in Article 5.1, and the salary schedules

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The City had engaged in separate negotiations with a coalition of city unions representing other City's employees. The City negotiated the decision to impose furloughs with those unions and those negotiations resulted in an agreement to stay the furloughs as to those employees. The City did not offer the same terms of the coalition agreement to EAA; instead it offered only to hold furloughs in abeyance if the union gave up a contractual cost of living adjustment. (See PWM ¶ 20, 24-25.)

referenced in Article 6.1 are based on 2080-hour work years—52 weeks of 40 hours. (See, e.g., AA 1:112-114.) Based on the plain language of the MOUs, EAA members' full-time employment was 40 hours per week. Yet, under the City's furlough plan, their workweeks and pay decreased. Instead of being paid for 80 hours per bi-weekly pay period, EAA members' work hours and pay were reduced to 72 hours per pay period. (AA 9:1919; Slip Op. at p. 5.) Annualized, the furloughs resulted in a pay reduction of approximately 10%. (*Id.*)

After the furloughs were implemented, about 400 EAA members filed grievances<sup>5</sup> on the grounds that the City's furlough program violated their contractual salary under Article 6.1 and 40-hour workweek in Article 5.1.<sup>6</sup> (AA 2:340 – 7:1648; Slip Op. at pp. 5-6.) The City denied the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> EAA previously agreed that if this Court allows arbitration to proceed, it would consolidate the grievances. (Petition for Review at pp. 17-18.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> EAA also filed an Unfair Employee Relations Practice ("UERP") Charge on June 15, 2009 with the City's Employment Relations Board ("ERB") contesting the unilateral implementation of furloughs. (Slip Op. at p. 5.) On April 25, 2011, the ERB found the City's refusal to bargain the decision to impose furloughs violated the ERO, and it ordered that the City "shall cease and desist from refusing to meet and confer" with EAA "over the decision to impose furloughs." (MJN, Ex. 3.) As relevant here, that determination established that furloughs are within the scope of bargaining, i.e., that they are *not* a management prerogative.

Separately, and to preserve the status quo, EAA filed an application for a temporary restraining order with the superior court on July 9, 2009. (PWM ¶ 28 [L.A. Superior Court Case No. BC417398].) The application was denied and EAA subsequently abandoned its appeal from that denial and dismissed the action. (AA 9:1888-1893.)

grievances at each level of review and refused to arbitrate them "on the basis that the furloughs were implemented in accordance with City Council action and were therefore not grievable." (Slip Op. at p. 5.)

### Ш

# THE TRIAL COURT ENFORCED THE ARBITRATION CLAUSE, BUT THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL REVERSED, OPINING THAT ARBITRATION WOULD "UNLAWFULLY DELEGATE" CITY POLICYMAKING AUTHORITY

EAA filed the underlying action to enforce the arbitration clause and sought an order compelling arbitration of the grievances in accordance with the parties' agreement. (Slip Op. at p. 6.) In its opposition, the City primarily argued that "furloughs implemented pursuant to a declaration of emergency are not grievable" and that it had "the absolute management right to furlough employees" under the MOUs' management rights clause contained in Article 1.9.<sup>7</sup> (Slip Op. at pp. 6-7.) EAA responded that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Article 1.9, which is modeled after ERO 4.859, provides:

As the responsibility for the management of the City and direction of its work force is vested exclusively in its City officials and department heads whose powers and duties are specified by law, it is mutually understood that except as specifically set forth herein no provisions in this MOU shall be deemed to limit or curtail the City officials and department heads in any way in the exercise of the rights, powers and authority which they had prior to the effective date of this MOU. The Association recognizes that these rights, powers, and authority include but are not limited to, the right to ... relieve City employees from duty because of lack of work, lack of funds or other legitimate reasons ... take all necessary actions to maintain

parties' arbitration clause encompassed this dispute and, further, that consideration of the City's defenses to arbitration would impermissibly involve an analysis of the underlying merits of the grievances. (AA 9:1933, 1937-1938; Slip Op. at p. 8.)

On September 16, 2010, the trial court issued an order compelling arbitration, agreeing with EAA that the underlying grievances were fully within the scope of the "broad definition of a grievance" under the MOUs and were thus arbitrable. (Slip Op. at p. 8; AA 9:1957-67.) It correctly declined to address the City's defenses because they went to the merits of the grievances. (*Id.*)

Almost two months later, the City filed a Petition for Writ of Mandate in the Second District Court of Appeal, arguing for the first time that the MOUs could not require arbitration of what it characterized as the City's non-delegable powers. On March 25, 2011, the court of appeal granted the petition in a published decision, effectively reversing the trial court's arbitration order. (See Slip Op. at pp. 3, 8.)

uninterrupted service to the community and carry out its mission in emergencies; provided, however, that the exercise of these rights does not preclude employees and their representatives from consulting or raising grievances about the practical consequences that decisions on these matters may have on wages, hours, and other terms and conditions of employment.

(Slip Op. at p. 7; e.g., AA 1:93.)

Preliminarily, the court determined the issue of arbitrability was one for the courts because the MOUs "did not clearly and unmistakably assign the issue to the arbitrator." (Slip Op. at pp. 9-10.) The court framed the issue presented by the parties as whether Articles 1.9 (the management rights clause) and 3.1 (the arbitration clause) of the MOUs permitted arbitration of the City's decision to furlough employees, but it found the MOUs "ambiguous" on this point. (*Id.* at pp. 9-10, 13-17.) The court noted that, although ordinarily it would remand to the trial court for consideration of extrinsic evidence, "it is unnecessary to do so as we will conclude that even *if* the MOU provided that the decision to furlough employees in a fiscal emergency was subject to arbitration, such a provision would be an improper delegation of the City Council's discretionary power." (*Id.* at pp. 18-19 [italics original].)

In its discussion, the court outlined "three different types of improper delegations," but found that "only one type . . . is at issue in this case." (Slip Op. at p. 19.) First, it examined state delegations of municipal power to private individuals under Article XI, Section 11 of the California Constitution, but found that was inapplicable because that section did not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The court thus assumed, without deciding, that "in the MOUs, which the City Council approved, the City Council had agreed that its decision to furlough employees due to a lack of funds would be subject to review by an arbitrator." (*Id.* at p. 19.)

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