No. S192828 (2<sup>nd</sup> Civil No. B228732) (L.A.S.C. Case No. BS126192)

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CITY OF LOS ANGELES, and DOES 1 through 50, inclusive,

Petitioner,

VS.



SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,

Respondent,

FILED

DEC 1 3 2018

ENGINEERS AND ARCHITECTS ASSOCIATION,

Frederick K. Chirich Clerk

Deputy

Petitioner and Real Party in Interest.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. B228732

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CARMEN A. TRUTANICH, City Attorney (SBN 86629x)
ZNA PORTLOCK HOUSTON, Senior
Assistant City Attorney
JANIS LEVART BARQUIST,

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

As *Kugler* explains, "The Legislature may, after declaring a policy and fixing a primary standard, confer upon executive or administrative officers the 'power to fill up the details' by prescribing rules or regulations to promote the purposes of the legislation and to carry it into effect.... [citation]. Similarly...[the legislative body] can make a law to delegate a power to determine some fact or state of things upon which the law makes or intends to make its own action depend. [citation]." (*Kugler, supra*, 69 Cal.2d at p.376.)

Similarly, in *Carson*, this Court ruled that an ordinance reflecting the city council's decision that mobile home rent increases be "just, fair, and reasonable" was a fundamental policy decision; the subsequent adjustment of particular rents by a review board based on statutory factors constituted implementation of that policy, not legislative delegation. (*Carson, supra*, 35 Cal.3d at pp. 190-191.) Finally, in *Sun Pacific*, the court upheld a statute which delegated to pest control districts the power to implement the Legislature's decision to control and eradicate citrus pests. (*Sun Pacific, supra*, 77 Cal.App.4th at pp. 633-637.)

Unlike the third parties in *Kugler, Carson*, and *Sun Pacific*, in adjudicating the emergency furlough dispute, the arbitrator's role would not be to apply or implement the discretionary policy decision to impose furloughs in a financial emergency. Rather, as the Court of Appeal recognized, "when considering the claims made in the employee grievances and the nature of the relief sought by the Union, it is clear that the Union is seeking to have an arbitrator determine issues of discretionary policymaking which have been assigned to the

City Council." (Slip Op. at p. 25.) *Kugler* and its progeny thus have no bearing on this case.

#### 2. Arbitration of operational decisions is permissible.

Contrary to Association's contentions (OBOM 42-43), *Taylor*, *supra*, 24 Cal.3d 442 and *SEIU v. City of Los Angeles* (1996) 42 Cal.App.4th 1546 (*SEIU*) are equally distinguishable. Whereas the present dispute would require submission to arbitration of policy and planning decisions, *Taylor* and *SEIU* both involved the arbitral review of operational decisions; i.e., "lower level decisions that merely implement a basic policy already formulated." (*Barner v. Leeds* (2000) 24 Cal.4th 676, 685 (discussing meaning of "discretionary" in the context of governmental immunity); see also *Johnson v. State of California* (1968) 69 Cal.2d 782, 794.)

In *Taylor*, this Court held that arbitral review of the decision to discharge an individual employee did not unlawfully delegate discretionary power over personnel matters. (*Taylor*, *supra*, 24 Cal.3d at p. 452.) Relying on *Taylor*, the court in *SEIU* held that arbitral review of the application of a salary premium to a particular employee's working conditions did not unlawfully delegate the City

Council's authority over economic matters. (*SEIU, supra*, 42 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1554-1555.) Thus, neither case involved the submission to arbitration of a *general policymaking power*. (Cf. *Taylor, supra*, 24 Cal.3d at p. 453.) Instead, the arbitrators were given the power to determine facts and then apply them to the previously established policy. The arbitrators were not, however, called upon to judge the validity of the governing body's underlying policy decision.<sup>14</sup>

As this Court recognized in *Taylor*, submission of policy questions is "more intrusive upon the functions of city government than the arbitrator's authority in this case to resolve an individual grievance." (*Taylor, supra*, 24 Cal.3d at 453, citing *Bagley v. City of Manhattan Beach* (1976) 18 Cal.3d 22 and *San Francisco Firefighters, supra*, 68 Cal.App.3d 896.) Here, submission of the emergency furlough decision to arbitration would seriously intrude

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> In *Taylor*, the city council's determination that permanent employees may be discharged only for "a cause" was the fundamental policy decision. (*Taylor, supra*, 24 Cal.3d at p.447.) In *SEIU*, the city council's decision to award bonus pay for certain duties was the fundamental policy choice. (*SEIU, supra*, 42 Cal.App.4th at pp.1549-1550.) In each case, arbitration of the application of these policy decisions to a particular employment situation constituted *implementation* of the respective policy, not unlawful delegation.

upon the elected officials' essential governmental function to manage the City's finances.

D. Arbitration of this dispute would seriously intrude upon the Mayor and City Council's discretionary policymaking powers to manage the City's finances.

The Court of Appeal correctly used interest arbitration<sup>15</sup> principles to conclude that "any agreement to arbitrate the issue of furloughs would constitute an improper delegation of discretionary policymaking power vested in the City Council." (Slip Op. at p. 3.) In doing so, the Court of Appeal declined to mechanically apply a rigid theoretical line between interest and grievance arbitration, concentrating instead on the inevitable impact on City government of allowing arbitration of these grievances to proceed.

The Court of Appeal recognized that "[i]nterest arbitration is problematic from a delegation point of view because it impacts policy matters, not because it is called interest arbitration." (Slip Op. at p.

### 24.) The Court of Appeal observed

[W]hen binding interest arbitration is applied in the public sector, it may result in the arbitrator's involvement

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> "Interest arbitration concerns the resolution of disputes over the formation of a collective bargaining agreement. (quotation marks and citation omitted)." (Slip Op. at p. 23.)

in matters that extend beyond those over which labor and management customarily bargain in private sector disputes; binding interest arbitration may push the arbitrator into the realm of social planning and fiscal policy. [Citation]. The obvious reason for this is that costs arising from the terms of a binding interest arbitration award must be paid out of governmental For example, if an interest arbitrator were to accept the demand by a firefighters' union that a local government add an engine company, this might require the 'the building of a new fire house or the purchase of new equipment, ...[and] could very well intrude upon management's role in formulating policy.' [Citation]. A decision in a binding public sector interest arbitration proceeding might therefore require the governmental employer either to cut other items from its budget or to increase taxes. [Citation]. (Slip Op. at pp. 24-25.)<sup>16</sup>

Arbitration here would significantly interfere with the Mayor and City Council's authority and responsibility under the Charter to manage the City's finances and to make basic policy decisions for the protection and benefit of public. (Slip Op. at p. 25.) Through use of the arbitration process, Association seeks to have an arbitrator second-guess the manner in which City Council has exercised its

Citing *Taylor*, the Court of Appeal noted, "[i]nterest arbitration may constitute an improper delegation because it involves the submission to arbitration of a general policymaking power to determine terms and conditions of employment, a matter of public policy... [¶] [Such power] is broader and more intrusive upon the functions of city government than the arbitrator's authority ...to resolve an individual grievance." (Slip Op. at p. 25.)

discretionary powers to manage the City's finances during a fiscal emergency. Arbitration of this dispute would thus impermissibly intrude on the power and duty of the City's elected officials to determine how scarce resources are to be allocated with minimal disruption to public services, while ensuring that the City meets all of its financial obligations, not just those pertaining to Association's members. (California Teachers Association v. Ingwerson (1996) 46 Cal.App.4th 860, 876.)

Attempting to distinguish the impact of arbitrating this dispute from that of interest arbitration, Association insists the arbitrator would not indulge in policymaking "because the City already did that itself." (OBOM 37.) The Court of Appeal disagreed. "When considering the claims made in the employee grievances, and the relief sought by the Union, it is clear that the Union is seeking to have an arbitrator determine issues of discretionary policymaking which have been assigned to City Council." (Slip Op. at p. 25.)

If the arbitration of these grievances is allowed to proceed, the arbitrator will not, as Association claims, be called upon to merely "interpret existing contractual terms to which the City has already

bound itself." (OBOM 37.) Rather, the arbitrator will be asked to validate or overturn the City Council's discretionary policy decisions to reduce salary appropriations and to implement a new work rule (i.e., the furlough program) to preserve essential public services in a financial emergency. Under the Charter, City departments can only spend money that was specifically appropriated by the City Council in the budget. (4RJN, Ex.2, Charter §§ 262 and 320.) In overturning the emergency furlough decision, the arbitrator would be substituting his or her judgment for that of the City's elected officials, effectively rewriting the City's budget to provide the necessary appropriations. As such, the impact of arbitrating this dispute will be akin to that of interest arbitration, with a decision and remedy that will affect the allocation of public resources, the level of public services, and potentially an increase in taxes. Such decisions are legislativepolitical, and cannot be delegated to an arbitrator, who is entirely without responsibility to the City, its voters, or taxpayers. (County of Butte, supra, 176 Cal.App.3d at p. 699; Collier v. City and County of San Francisco (2007) 151 Cal.App.4th 1326, 1345 (declining to interfere with municipality's judgment in weighing budgeting needs).)

## VI. ASSOCIATION'S CHOICE OF FORUM WAIVED ANY RIGHT TO ARBITRATE THIS PARTICULAR DISPUTE.

A. Association's prior actions seeking relief in two other forums on the same claims are inconsistent with its current demand for arbitration.

By its prior actions in seeking remedies first at the Board, and then in an injunctive and declaratory relief action, Association has waived its ability to arbitrate the emergency furlough dispute. Waiver may be implied from conduct that indicates an intent to relinquish the right. (Waller v. Truck Ins. Exchange, Inc. (1995) 11 Cal.4th 1, 31.)

In St. Agnes Medical Center v. PacifiCare of California (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1187 (St. Agnes), this Court identified factors to consider when a question of waiver of an arbitration process is raised. (Id. at p. 1196.) The facts of this case establish the majority of the St. Agnes factors.

Association sought arbitration long after the administrative proceeding before the Board was underway. Association has already had the benefit of its discovery of the City's positions, witnesses, documents, and theories – all discovery it would not have *but for* the fact that its Claim was *fully litigated* in the Board proceeding.

A petition to compel arbitration "should be brought within a reasonable time." (Zamora v. Lehman (2010) 186 Cal.App.4th 1, 17.) In Guess?, Inc. v. Superior Court (2000) 79 Cal.App.4th 553 (Guess?, Inc.), the court found a waiver of an arbitration agreement in part because of unreasonable delay. There, the petition to compel arbitration was filed nearly four months after the civil complaint. Here, the Association's petition to compel arbitration was filed some 9 months after it had initiated the first of two prior actions for relief.

In the declaratory judgment action, Association specifically asked the Superior Court to hold that the City had breached the governing MOUs. (AA 1853.) If, as in *Guess?*, *Inc.*, the failure to raise arbitration as an affirmative defense is a waiver of the right to proceed to arbitration, then Association's act of filing a civil lawsuit for breach of contract is also a waiver of arbitration under that contract. (See also *Sobremonte v. Superior Court* (1998) 61 Cal.App.4th 980, 996 (10-month delay unreasonable); *Kaneko Ford Design v. Citipark, Inc.* (1988) 202 Cal.App.3d 1220, 1228 (five-and-a-half-month delay unreasonable).)

## B. The MOU grievance procedure limits Association to one forum.

The grievance procedure contained in the governing MOUs prohibits multiple filing of claims through an election of remedies provision. If a dispute is filed as an administrative claim before the Board, the same dispute cannot also be filed as a grievance. Article 3.1, Section II.A. provides

... Where a matter within the scope of this grievance procedure is alleged to be both a grievance and an unfair labor practice under the jurisdiction of the Employee Relations Board, the employee may elect to pursue the matter under either the grievance procedure herein provided, or by action before the Employee Relations Board. The employee's election of either procedure shall constitute a binding election of the remedy chosen and a waiver of the alternative remedy. (1AA 103, 163, 228; 2AA 294.)

Association's filing of the Claim in June 2009 predated the filing of the 408 individual emergency furlough grievances by its members. As such, Association's action constituted a binding election of remedy and a "waiver of the alternate remedy" being sought in this proceeding. Having fully litigated the relevant issues before the Board, Association is precluded from utilizing the MOU grievance procedure to pursue relief on the same claims. (See

Hallandale Prof'l Fire Fighters, Local 2238 v. City of Hallandale, 777 So. 2d 435 (Fla. 4th DCA, 2001) (by electing to pursue an unfair labor practice charge before the labor board, union was barred from also seeking arbitration on the same claims).)

Association's claim that the MOU election of remedies provision applies only to employees and not to it as the union, is unsupportable given the MOU requirement that a request for arbitration must be made *jointly* by the employee and Association. (1AA 107, 167, 232; Article 3.1 Step 6.) Thus, all of the arbitration demands are elections made by Association. Association is the exclusive representative of its members. With statutorily enforced exclusivity comes responsibility. Accordingly, employees represented by Association are equally bound by the elections of their exclusive representative.

# VII. NO CONTRACT CLAUSE VIOLATION IS IMPLICATED IN THIS CASE.

## A. Association is estopped from challenging the validity of the City's declaration of financial emergency.

Association's argument that a "fiscal emergency" exception and the City's implementation of the furloughs were in violation of the

Constitutional prohibition against the impairment of contracts is an attempt to litigate the merits of the underlying dispute, and is not related to the arbitrability of the grievances. (OBOM 50-55.) Furthermore, this claim is without foundation either in the record or in the facts or law at issue here.<sup>17</sup>

Association's reliance on this Court's decision in *Sonoma* County Organization of Public Employees v. County of Sonoma (1979) 23 Cal.3d 296 (Sonoma County OPE) is misplaced. The Sonoma County OPE decision arose in the context of a petition for writ of mandate where the express issue was whether the challenged statute impaired contractual obligations. (Id. at p. 302.) The challenged statute had been enacted in response to Proposition 13, and its limitations on the taxing powers of local and state government. (Id. at pp. 302, 311, fn. 4.) This Court held that there was no dispute that a contractual impairment was created by the statute, but that the

Association never raised a Contract Clause issue in its PFR, or at any prior stage of this litigation. Thus, Association has forfeited this argument. (*Perez v. Grajales* (2009) 169 Cal.App.4th 580, 591.) Regardless, Association's impairment of contract claim goes to the merits of the controversy and cannot be reached by the court on a motion to compel arbitration. (Code Civ. Proc. § 1281.2(c).)

parties had not established that a fiscal crisis actually existed. (*Id.* at pp. 304-305, 312.)

In contrast to the situation in *Sonoma County OPE*, the parties here have already litigated the validity of the emergency declaration and the City has proven both that an emergency existed, and that it acted legally in implementing the furloughs. (3RJN, Ex.3.) As such, Association is now collaterally estopped from challenging these administrative findings of the Board. (*Murray v. Alaska Airlines* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 860, 867.)

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